

Department of Animal Environment and Health

Jaguar (*Panthera onca*) and puma (*Puma concolor*) hunting preferences, and their effect on cattle (*Bos taurus*), in Pantanal, Brazil

Agnes Fridell



Master thesis • 30 credits Agricultural Science program – Animal Science Uppsala 2020

Jaguar (*Panthera onca*) and puma (*Puma concolor*) hunting preferences, and their effect on cattle (*Bos taurus*), in Pantanal, Brazil

Jaguarers (Panthera once) och pumors (Puma concolor) jaktpreferenser, och dess påverkan på boskap (Bos taurus), i Pantanal, Brazil

Agnes Fridell

Supervisor:	Jens Jung, Dept. of Animal Environment and Health, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences
Assistant supervisor:	Mateus Paranhas da Costa, faculdade de ciencias agrarias e veterinarias (FCAV) , universidade estadual paulista (UNESP), Brazil
Examiner:	Claes Anderson, Dept. of Animal Environment and Health, Swedish University of Agricultural Science

Credits:	30 credits						
Level:	A2E ndependent project in Animal Science, A2E - Acriculture Programme - Animal Science						
Course title:							
Course code:	EX0872						
Programme/education:	Agricultural Science programme – Animal Science						
Course coordinating department:	Department of Animal Genetics						
Place of publication:	Uppsala						
Year of publication:	2020						
Cover picture:	Parken zoo, Eskilstuna, Sverige						
Online publication:	https://stud.epsilon.slu.se						
Keywords:	Panthera onca, Puma concolor, Bos Taurus, Human- wildlife conflicts, Pantanal, Brazil						

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Department of Animal Environment and Health

#### Abstract

In Brazil, jaguars and pumas both constitute threats to cattle farming due to predation on calves. Since both jaguar and puma populations decline, conflicts with humans should be avoided in order to prevent poaching, which can lead to the number of wild cats in Brazil decreasing further. The aim of this study was to identify in which environments attacks on cattle mainly occur and whether some groups of cattle are more affected than others. With such knowledge, more effective countermeasures might be deployed in order to prevent attacks, leading to better coexistence. During 2017 and 2018, two farms affected by predation were visited. With the assistance of the ranchers, the sites for attacks were analysed with regard to vegetation types, date, moon phase and traits of the calves. The positions of carcasses were documented with GPS acquired from a mobile phone. Age, breed and sex of the killed animals were also documented. The species of the predator was established by the ranchers based on the type of damage endured by the carcass, footprints and if it had been covered by foliage. The geographical positions of the attack sites were analysed using ArcGIS. Predated calves were up to one year old, only one calf was older, The age group consisting of calves of 180-270 days was more affected than expected at the farm Sao Bento, as few animals in that age range were present on the farm. Pumas took much younger prey than jaguars. Both pumas and jaguars hunted at one of the farms while the other farm only experienced puma attacks. Overall, more attacks occurred in open vegetation than close to or in forests. However, both farms disproportionally consist of open vegetation, and hence forests still seem to be important for jaguars and pumas while hunting. There were a number of attacks recorded within 100 m of houses and roads. Moon phase affected predation; there was a higher risk of killing prey at new moon or close to it. Most of the attacks occurred during the dry season, which is probably a result of farm routines rather than an environment effect. No single obvious strategy for protecting livestock can be derived from the findings of this study. In order to develop better predation prevention strategies at farms, it is important to know which cattle that are risk groups and under which circumstances. There is thus a need for further studies in the research area, as little seems to be known about how, for example, cattle and predators are affected by moon phase.

*Keywords:* Panthera onca, Puma concolor, Bos taurus, Bos indicus, Pantanal, Brazil.

## Sammanfattning

I Brasilien betraktas jaguarer och pumor som ett hot mot boskapsuppfödningen då de kan döda boskap. Både jaguarer och pumor har minskat i antal. Tjuvjakt kan leda till att antalet vilda kattdjur i Brasilien minskar ännu mera, det är därför viktigt att motverka konflikter mellan människor och vilda katter. Syftet med denna undersökning var att identifiera i vilka miljöer jakt på boskap huvudsakligen uppstår och om vissa grupper av boskap påverkas mer än andra. Med den kunskapen kan effektivare åtgärder kanske vidtas för att förhindra attacker, vilket kan leda till bättre samexistens. Under 2017- 2018 besöktes två gårdar. Med hjälp av boskapsskötare analyserades attacker på boskap med avseende på vegetation, månfas och kalvens egenskaper såsom ålder, ras och kön. Positionerna där boskap hittats dödade bestämdes med GPS i en mobiltelefon. De dödade djurens ålder och kön bestämdes utifrån uppgifter från gårdarna. Med hjälp av boskapsskötare och baserat på skador på kadavret, tassavtryck och om kadavret var täckt med buskage bedömdes det om predatorn var en jaguar eller en puma. Attackernas geografiska positioner har sedan analyserats med ArcGIS. Kalvarnas som dödats var upp till ett år gamla, endast en kalv var äldre. Åldersgruppen 180-270 dagar drabbades mer än förväntat på gården Sao Bento då många boskap i den åldersgruppen sålts och det därför fanns relativt få djur i den åldersgruppen på gården. Pumor tog mycket yngre boskap än jaguarer. Både pumor och jaguarer jagade på en av gårdarna medan den andra gården bara hade pumaattacker. Fler attacker förekom i öppen vegetation än vid skogsområden. Dock bestod bägge gårdarna till största delen av öppen vegetation. I det sammanhanget skedde relativt många attacker ändå vid skogskanter vilket tolkades som att skogsområden ändå verkar vara viktiga för jaguarer och pumpor när de jagar. Det förekom attacker inom 100 m från hus och vägar. Månens faser påverkade antalet attacker; det var högre risk för boskap att dödas vid nymåne. De flesta attackerna inträffade under torrperioden. Det är troligen ett resultat av gårdsrutiner snarare än en miljöeffekt. Utifrån den här studien identifierades ingen uppenbar strategi för att skydda boskap mot predatorattacker. För att utveckla strategier på gårdarna är det viktigt att veta vilka boskap som är riskgrupper och under vilka omständigheter. Det verkar finnas ett behov av fler studier på området då lite verkar vara känt om hur till exempel boskap och predatorer påverkas av olika månfaser.

*Nyckelord:* Panthera onca, Puma concolor, Bos taurus, Bos indicus, Pantanal, Brazil.

### Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Både jaguarer och pumor har viktiga funktioner som predatorer inom ekosystem. Samtidigt har båda arterna minskat i antal. Det beror delvis på att deras livsmiljöer förändrats med bland annat avverkad skog. Ytterligare en riskfaktor är konflikter med människor. Konflikter mellan människor och vilda rovdjur är ett globalt problem. I Sverige uppstår det till exempel konflikt mellan fårbönder och vargar. I Brasilien är framförallt jaguarer och pumor ett hot mot boskapsuppfödning. I tidigare studier har forskare undersökt brasilianska bönders inställning till jaguarer och pumor och funnit att många har haft negativa attityder mot stora kattdjur. En risk med konflikter mellan människor och vilda djur är att tjuvjakt kan öka. Detta kan leda till att sårbara rovdjur blir ännu mer sällsynta med negativa effekter på ekosystem som en följd. För att skapa en bättre samexistens mellan människor och stora kattdjur är det viktigt med kunskap om kattdjurens jaktbeteenden. Kunskapen kan användas för att skydda tamdjuren och få bönder att känna sig mindre hotade av jaguarer och pumor. Det är även viktigt att förstå vilken jaktmiljö jaguarer och pumor behöver för att jaga effektivt i det vilda. Detta då det finns misstankar om att de dödar mer boskap som ett resultat av minskad tillgång till naturliga byten och bra jaktmiljöer.

I tidigare studier har man sett att vilda kattdjurs jaktbeteenden påverkas av vegetationstyper. Både jaguarer och pumor har i tidigare studier verkat föredra att jaga vid skogskanter. Det finns teorier om att de lättare uppfattar bytet när det rör sig vid skogskant samtidigt som de själva kan hålla sig gömda. Tidigare studier har också visat att vilda djur kan anpassa sin dygnsrytm efter hur starkt månskenet är som en jaktstrategi. Det är ett samspel mellan hur bra mörkerseende bytesdjuret har i förhållande till predatorn. Intressanta miljöfaktorer som kan påverka jaguarers och pumors jaktpreferenser kan därför vara vegetation, månljus och även säsong.

För att kunna vidta mer effektiva skyddsåtgärder är det även intressant att undersöka om vissa boskapsgrupper har en högre risk att dödas än andra. Faktorer som skulle kunna ha en betydelse är ålder, ras och kön. Ras kan vara av betydelse då modersinstinkten och flyktinstinkten kan skilja mellan raser. Vissa studier har funnit att tjurkalvar har en högre risk att bli dödade av rovdjur. Varför vet man inte riktigt. Den insamlade datan indikerar att attacker sker i många typer av vegetationer men i förhållande till andelen skog skedde en stor del av attackerna i skogskanter. Flest attacker inträffade under torrsäsongen. Flest attacker skedde vid nymåne. Boskap dödades upp till drygt ett års ålder. Två utsatta åldersspann var 0- 90 och 180- 270 dagars ålder vilket indikerar att unga och nyligen avvanda djur är utsatta. Tjurkalvar verkar dödas oftare än kvigkalvar i förhållande till antal djur av olika kön som fanns på gårdarna.

# Table of contents

List o	f tables	10
List o	f figures	11
1	Introduction	13
1.1	Human- wildlife conflict	13
1.2	Human- wildlife conflict in Brazil	14
1.3	Predators	14
1.3.1	Jaguars	14
1.3.2	Pumas	16
1.4	Predation on cattle in Pantanal, Brazil	17
1.5	Aims	18
2	Method	19
2.1	The farms	19
2.2	Data collection	20
2.3	Statistics	24
3	Result	25
3.1	Most affected groups of cattle	26
3.2	Vegetation	28
3.3	Moon illumination	30
3.4	Season	32
3.5	Predator	33
4	Discussion	34
4.1	Discussion of the result	34
4.1.1	The environment in which jaguars and pumas are more likely to kill cattle	34
4.1.1.1	1 Season	34
4.1.1.2	2 Vegetation	35

4.1.1.3 Moon illumination	36
4.1.2 More affected groups of cattle	37
4.1.2.1 Age	37
4.1.2.2 Breed	38
4.1.2.3 Sex	39
4.1.3 Prevention strategies	39
4.2 Discussion of method	41
4.2.1 Possible sources of errors	41
4.2.2 Improvement of the method	41
4.2.3 Possible ethical and societal consequences	43
4.3 Further studies	43
5 Conclusions	45
References	46
Acknowledgements	54

# List of tables

Table 1. Numbers of attacks in different vegetations at Orvalho das Flores (2018) and at Sao Bento (2017-2018) 29

Table 2. Numbers of attacks in different vegetation types in 2017-2018 29

Table 3. Days of the study distributed in groups with different moon phases and 223 days in each group 30

Table 4. Numbers of attacks distributed at different months at Sao Bento in 2018 32

# List of figures

Figure 1. Overview Sao bento. (Photo: Google Earth)	20
Figure 2. Overview Orvalho das flores. (Photo: Google Earth)	20
<i>Figure 3.</i> Carcass covered with foliage which indicates that the predator was a put (Photo: Agnes Fridell, SLU)	ıma. 21
<i>Figure 4.</i> Carcass with a bite mark with indicates that the predator was a jaguar. (Photo: Agnes Fridell, SLU)	22
<i>Figure 5.</i> Jaguars documented while eating a carcass. Photo by a Reconyx HC60 Hyper- fire Motion- enable camera	)0 23
Figure 6. Attack positions around Sao Bento. (Made by Agnes Fridell)	25
Figure 7. Attack positions around Orvalho das Flores. (Made by Agnes Fridell)	26
Figure 8. Numbers of killed cattle at different ages 2017-2018	27
Figure 9. Proportion of sex of killed cattle 2017-2018	28
Figure 10. Mean number of kills per day according to moon phase	30
Figure 11. Moon illumination on days with 0,1 and 2 kills	31
<i>Figure 12.</i> Numbers of attacks distributed at different months at Sao Bento in 201 32	7

*Figure 13.* Numbers of cattle killed in different age ranges killed by jaguar and puma 33

# 1 Introduction

## 1.1 Human- wildlife conflict

Human- wildlife conflict is a problem for the conservation of wild animals. One possible source of conflict is predation on livestock by one or more species of predators. For example, Oli *et al.* (1994) and Lenihan (1996) found negative attitudes towards snow leopards (*Panthera uncia*) and wolves (*Canis lupus*), respectively, caused by predation on cattle.

Predation on livestock is a global problem and has been reported from several continents. For example, studies by Patterson *et al.* (2004), Woodroffe *et al.* (2005) and Kolowski and Holekamp (2006) report predation on livestock caused by wild animals in Africa, where predators such as lions (*Panthera leo*), cheetahs (*Acinonyx jubatus*), spotted hyenas (*Crocuta crocuta*), leopards (*Panthera pardus*) and African wild dogs (*Lycaon pictus*) have been observed to hunt cattle. From Asia, previous studies describe snow leopards as a threat to cattle. Snow leopards are known to kill cattle in Nepal (Oli *et al.*, 1994), as well as in Ladakh, Tibet and Mongolia (Jackson & Wangchuk, 2001).

Livestock predation by jaguars or pumas has been noted in, among other locations, Belize (Rabinowitz, 1986), Venezuela (Hoogesteijn *et al.*, 1993; Polisar *et al.*, 2003) and Brazil (Mazzolli *et al.*, 2002; Conforti & Azevedo, 2003; Zimmermann *et al.*, 2005; Michalski *et al.*, 2006; Palmeira & Barrella, 2007).

Still, few studies have been able to show significant economic impact caused by the predation on cattle (Michalski *et al.*, 2006; Palmeira & Barrella, 2007). For example, Patterson *et al.* (2004) found that 2.4% of the livestock population was killed by wild animals during one year in Kenya. However, the local history of attacks has been shown to negatively affect cattle owners' perception of the predator species (Soto-Shoender & Main, 2013). Due to this effect, a limited number of attacks could plausibly constitute sufficient grounds for farmers to adopt a negative attitude towards the

predator species, which in turn could lead to poaching. As a result, threatened predators might in fact become even more vulnerable.

## 1.2 Human-wildlife conflict in Brazil

In Brazil, economic consequences of predation on livestock have generally been considered modest. Michalski *et al.* (2006) reported that 1.2% of the livestock was killed annually by wild animals in the Amazon, which in the bigger picture can be considered low. In the Pantanal and Cerrado regions, the corresponding numbers have been estimated at 0.5% and 0.4%, respectively (Azevedo & Murray, 2007; Palmeira *et al.*, 2008). Regardless, many farmers perceive big cats as a threat to their operation. According to a study by Zimmermann *et al.* (2005), 82% of farmers in northern Pantanal thought jaguars were a threat to cattle and 64% did not accept jaguars on their farms.

Conflicts between humans and big cats exist in the Atlantic forest as well as in the Amazon and Pantanal (Engel *et al.*, 2017). However, the conflict is arguably more pronounced in Pantanal and the Amazon, where the population densities of big cats are higher and, consequently, predation on livestock is more common (Zimmermann *et al.*, 2005; Marchini & Macdonald, 2012).

It is important to note that there are other predators in Pantanal, in addition to the jaguar and the puma, which could plausibly be the cause of livestock demise. This fact is of particular interest in the light of previous studies, which have shown a tendency among farmers to, possibly incorrectly, blame jaguars and pumas in cases when the carcass of the prey is not found (Palmeira & Barrella, 2007; Rosas-Rosas *et al.*, 2008). According to intervied farmers predation on calves by vulture is possible. Vulture attacks can lead to death of new-born calves but this is rare (Toledo *et al.*, 2013). Poisonous snakes such as *Bothrops mattogrossensis, Bothrops moojeni* and *Crotalus durissus* reside in the area (WHO, 2019), obstructing efforts to determine causes of death. I have not found any study on cattle being killed by a caiman (*Caimaninae*).

## 1.3 Predators

#### 1.3.1 Jaguars

At the time of writing, jaguars are classified as a near-threatened species by the IUCN (2019). Historically, the species occurred from the south-western United States to the Rio Negro region in Argentina (Engel, 2016). Today,

jaguars are absent from 54% of their original home ranges (Macdonald *et al.*, 2012). In west-central Brazil, the Pantanal region has been considered as a critical area for conservation efforts (Sanderson *et al.*, 2002; Bernal-Escobar *et al.*, 2015).

Jaguars have a compact body with strong but comparatively short legs (Oliveira & Cassaro, 2005) and typically weighs between 31 and 121 kg (NE, 2020). The fur is primarily coloured yellow, with black spots forming rosettes on their heads, backs, legs and tails (Reis *et al.*, 2006). Their colour deviates ventrally, with white fur covering the chest and abdomen area (Reis *et al.*, 2006). Attacks by jaguars can usually be identified by the carcass of the prey having one or more broken cervical vertebrae (Palmeira *et al.*, 2008). The cause of fracture can be derived from either the animal's fall to the ground or from bites on the skull or on the neck (Palmeira *et al.*, 2008). Jaguars usually start eating the prey from the anterior side, which frequently leaves the posterior parts intact (Schaller & Crawshaw, 1980; Mondolfi & Hoogesteijn, 1986; Hoogesteijn *et al.*, 1993).

In Brazil, the wild prey base of jaguars generally consists of medium to largesized vertebrates (Engel, 2016). For example, South American tapir (*Tapirus terrestris*), capybara (*Hydrochoerus hydrochaeris*), collared peccary (*Pecari tajacu*), feral European wild boar (*Sus scrofa*) and deer species (*Mazama sp* and others) are all to some extent preyed upon by the jaguar. Jaguars are also known to occasionally consume caiman (*Caiman yacare*) (Perilli *et al.*, 2016).

Jaguars are solitary, nocturnal and territorial animals (Macdonald et al., 2012). Their home range can cover areas of up to ~150 km<sup>2</sup> in size (smaller for females) (Macdonald et al., 2012). Jaguars prefer moving either in dense cover or in adjacency to dense cover (Gese et al., 2018). They seem to select for dense cover when killing cattle in the dry season or native prey in the wet season (Gese et al., 2018). In addition, jaguars seem to prefer killing prey close to water, even in cases when the incidence of water in the landscape (Gese et al., 2018) is limited. Studies have indicated that jaguars cannot compensate for a loss of large-sized prey by eating larger amounts of medium-sized prey (Gonzalez & Miller, 2002; Novack et al., 2005). A tentative explanation for this fact is that a large-sized prey lasts longer whereas, in contrast, the jaguar must most likely search for additional prey immediately after eating a smaller-sized prey, which implies more effort for the same amount of food (Novack et al., 2005). Consequently, when the availability of large prey is reduced, energetic costs may increase (Novack et al., 2005). This may motivate a jaguar to hunt cattle in an environment where there is limited availability of large-sized natural prey.

#### 1.3.2 Pumas

Pumas can be found throughout the region of land delimited by southern Yukon in the north, Tierra del Fuego in the south, the Pacific in the west and the Atlantic in the east (Engel, 2016). Iriarte *et al.* (1990) describe the puma as one of the most adaptable mammalian carnivores. Pumas could in the past be found in the eastern parts of the USA and Canada but vanished from these areas sometime during the last century (Macdonald *et al.*, 2012). Today, pumas have disappeared completely from 27 % of their original home ranges (Engel, 2016). The main threats to pumas as of today are habitat loss and associated conflict with humans (Reis *et al.*, 2006). Pumas are listed as Least Concern by IUCN (2019) but were classified as Vulnerable in Brazil in 2005 (Machado *et al.*, 2005).

The body size of the puma varies greatly depending on the geographical zone in which it lives (Iriarte et al., 1990). A puma from the northern or the southern regions of their geographical population distribution is generally heavier than a puma from the central regions closer to the equator (Sunguist & Sunquist, 2002; Muphy & Macdonald, 2012). In Brazil, the body weight of pumas typically varies between 40 and 100 kg (NE, 2020). The body of a puma is long, skinny (Muphy & Macdonald, 2012) and covered by brown fur which is lighter in colour on their chest (Reis et al., 2006). Bite marks located at the throat of the prey can be a sign of a puma attack, since pumas often kill through suffocation (Palmeira et al., 2008). Usually, pumas start eating the prey from the ventral part (Pitman et al., 2002). It is also common for pumas to cover the carcass of the prey with branches, foliage, soil or snow subsequent to a successful hunt (Shaw, 1989). This phenomenon is referred to as caching behaviour and is common among large, solitary felids (Schaller & Vasconselos, 1978; Sunquist, 1981). I have not found any study on caching behaviour among jaguars.

The wild prey base of pumas in Brazil consists of, among others, coati (Nasua spp.) (De Azevedo, 2008), deer (Mazama spp.) (Crawshaw & Quigley, 2002; De Azevedo, 2008), dasyprocta (Dasyprocta spp.) (De Azevedo, 2008), paca (Cuniculus spp.) (De Azevedo, 2008), capybara (Hydrochoerus hydrochaeris) (Engel, 2016) and armadillo (Dasypus novemcinctus) (Leite & Galvão, 2002). The method of killing preferred by the puma depends on the size of the prey (Branch, 1995): small prey are often killed with a bite in the neck while larger prey are typically killed through suffocation (Branch, 1995). The diet of pumas varies concurrently with geographical zone (Monroy-Vilchis et al., 2009). Other factors affecting diet may include the availability and vulnerability of alternative types of prev (Sunguist & Sunquist, 1989, Malo et al., 2004, Lozano et al., 2006) as well as miscellaneous environmental factors. Pumas may hunt larger prey in habitats disrupted by human activity (Woodroffe, 2001), which can lead to increased predation on livestock in fragmented areas (Michalski et al., 2006). In Brazil, pumas mainly hunt small to medium-sized prey (Engel, 2016).

Pumas need large habitats (Sweanor et al., 2000). Their home ranges are between 32 and 1,030 km<sup>2</sup> in size (smaller for females) (Nowell & Jackson, 1996). When searching for food, pumas can move up to 9 km during the course of a single night (Beier, 1993). They live in several different types of habitats and occur both at sea level and at elevations of up to 5800 m (Sunquist & Sunquist, 2002). By contrast, they probably need specific kinds of environments in order to hunt effectively. The characteristic hunting technique employed by the puma is to stalk the intended prey animal (Sunguist & Sunguist, 2002). They can move quickly when covering short distance but do not engage in long-distance hunting (Sunguist & Sunguist, 2002). Therefore, as is the case with jaguars, pumas prefer habitats that provide concealment (Dickson & Beier, 2002; Foster et al., 2010). During a study of puma attacks on deer undertaken in northwestern Utah and southern Idaho, the United States, 73% of deer were killed at forest edges, indicating that such scenes are suitable hunting environments for the puma (Laundré & Hernández, 2003). This type of environment probably gives the puma opportunities to observe the prey moving through the vegetation while the puma remains hidden (Laundré & Hernández, 2003). A study in California by Beier et al. (1995) found that pumas hunt by switching between moving and remaining stationary. That is to say, pumas wait at one place for a while and, if nothing happens, they move to wait at a new location (Beier et al., 1995). If no prev is taken, the pattern can be repeated for up to six times in the span of one night (Beier et al., 1995).

## 1.4 Predation on cattle in Pantanal, Brazil

Hunting jaguars or pumas is with a few exceptions prohibited by law in Brazil (Miotto *et al.*, 2011). Consequently, alternative methods for protecting livestock are required. In order to effectively formulate such strategies, knowledge concerning where predator attacks occur, and which groups of cattle that are primarily affected, is required.

Previous studies have shown that cattle in Pantanal stay close to water during the dry season, which provides jaguars with a concentrated source of prey to attack (Crawshaw & Quigley, 1991; Klar *et al.*, 2008). Similarly, during the wet season, cattle need dry areas during the night (Gese *et al.*, 2018) which will lead to more time being spent close to forests (Gese *et al.*, 2018). This may increase the risk for attacks, since jaguars and pumas prefer hunting close to dense cover (Dickson & Beier, 2002; Foster *et al.*, 2010; Gese *et al.*, 2018).

There are many studies suggesting that keeping cattle away from forest is a strategy which prevents attacks by jaguar and puma (Gese *et al.*, 2018). For example, Quigley (1987) reported that all cattle killed in Pantanal during the study were located close to a forest. In a study by Palmeira *et al.* (2008) the mean distance between the kill sites and the nearest forest was reported as

1317 m. However, Gese *et al.* (2018) found attacks in many non-forest habitats and in addition considered keeping cattle away from forest an impractical proposition.

Moonlight can affect the behaviour of jaguars and pumas as well as that of cattle. In a study by Harmsen *et al.* (2011), it was found that jaguars and pumas have a similar circadian rhythm to that of their primarily consumed prey. The activity for amardillos and pacas was found to co-vary with moon illumination; being less active when the moon illumination was brighter. According to the same study, the activity of jaguar or pumas overall did not change with the moonlight. However, the activity of the jaguar during brighter moon illumination decreased in areas where there was much amardillos. It was suggested by the authors that jaguars hunted alternative prey due to the inactivity of amardillos during periods of brighter moon illumination. Cattle have been found to be more active at times of brighter moon illumination in a study by Sawalhah *et al.* (2016), whereas other studies have not found such a difference in activity (Dwyer, 1961; Wagnon, 1963).

#### 1.5 Aims of the study

The purpose of the present study was to investigate the behaviour of jaguar (*Panthera onca*) and puma (*Puma concolor*) related to their hunting of cattle. The long-term goal of this study was to facilitate understanding and thereby help to reduce conflict between humans and wildlife in the area under consideration (Pantanal and Mato Grosso) and counteract the decline of jaguars in Brazil. Due to their status as near-threatened species that have disappeared completely from many habitats in Latin America, it is of particular interest to prevent further decrease in the number of wild jaguars and pumas. The specific objectives of the research presented in this thesis are:

- to investigate which environmental factors (season, moon phase, vegetation) influence the likelihood of jaguars and pumas killing cattle
- to investigate if the risk of cattle being killed by jaguars or pumas varies depending on certain characteristics (age, sex and breed) of the prey

## 2 Methods

#### 2.1 The farms

The fieldwork for this study was performed at two farms: Sao Bento and Orvalho das Flores. Sao Bento (see figure 1) is located in Pantanal, the biggest wetland in the world (Alho *et al.*, 1988). Pantanal covers about 61700 km<sup>2</sup> in total (Brown *et al.*, 2012) and extends from western Brazil to parts of Bolivia and Paraguay (Quigley & Crashaw, 1992).

The period lasting from December to Mars is the largest rain season in Pantanal. From July to November Pantanal undergoes its dry season. During years with much rain, many areas can however remain flooded throughout entirety of the year. The average annual rainfall is 1200 mm (Quigley & Crashaw, 1992).

The periodic floods affect what kind of vegetation can exist in different subareas of Pantanal (Quigley & Crashaw, 1992); areas located at low altitudes have relatively open habitats consisting of grassland or cerrado whereas areas with higher altitudes consist of forest patches of different sizes.



Figure 1. Overview Sao Bento. (Photo: Google Earth)

Orvalho das Flores is located in Mato Grosso north of Barra do Garças south of the Amazon rain forest. In this area the climate is hot (semi-humid to humid) (Brown *et al.*, 2012). From May to October, Orvalho das Flores undergoes its dry season. The rainfall summed over the entirety of the year typically ranges from 1300 to 2300 mm.

In contrast to Sao Bento, the terrain around Orvalho das Flores does not consist of wetland, but quite open areas and sporadic forest patches (see figure 2).



Figure 2. Overview Orvalho das Flores. (Photo: Google Earth)

## 2.2 Data collection

Cattle data was obtained from the farms introduced in the previous section. At Sao Bento, studies similar to the current study had already been performed by former students at SLU (unpublished). Therefore, when finding a carcass, the ranchers had already noted the identity of the animal and the time when it was killed. From their databases information regarding breed, age and sex of the killed cattle were obtained. Similar studies had not been implemented on Orvalho das Flores prior to the current study, and the data presented in the following sections thus originates from a shorter period of time. For the same reason, information concerning the identity of the killed cattle was sometimes not available. Inference of predator species was made by the ranchers on the basis of whether the carcass was covered by foliage (see example in figure 3), which indicates puma, or had any bite marks in the skull (see example in figure 4), which indicates jaguar. Foot prints were also a part of the decision.



*Figure 3.* Part of a skeleton covered with foliage, which indicates that the predator was a puma (Photo: Agnes Fridell).



*Figure 4.* Part of a skeleton with a bite mark, which indicates that the predator was a jaguar (Photo: Agnes Fridell).

At Sao Bento, cameras traps were set up at the locations of the carcasses following their discovery. This was not implemented at Orvalho das Flores. However, many of the cameras at Sao Bento were out of order during 2018. Cameras were thus used as an additional way to classify predator at Sao Bento only during 2017. The cameras used for the current study were Reconyx HC600 Hyperfire Motion-enabled cameras, which are motion sensitive and capture five pictures each time they detect a warm-blooded animal (see figure 5). During daytime, the cameras detected animals at an estimated distance of 24 m. During the night, the flash range of the cameras was limited to 18 m. The cameras were mounted on metal rods that were placed such that the cameras reached an average height of 80 cm measured from the ground. The main purpose of the cameras was to provide insight into which predator species and how many individuals were active in the surveyed area. The cameras also revealed if the area contains mothers and cubs or only solitary predators. Furthermore, the cameras continuously recorded time, moon phase and temperature. Data regarding moon phase was also obtained from the website www.timeanddate.com.



*Figure 5.* Jaguars documented while eating a carcass. Photo captured by a Reconyx HC600 Hyperfire Motion-enabled camera (Photo: São Bento).

All of the ranchers spoke Portuguese exclusively, so interpreters were used to be able to communicate effectively. The ranchers presented the spots where carcasses had been found, and GPS coordinates and vegetation type were subsequently registered. In order to acquire GPS coordinates, a mobile phone compass was used which provided coordinates in the WGS 84 reference system. The recorded type of vegetation was determined via subjective assessment based on visual inspection of (1) the spot, (2) photos and movies of the spot and (3) a satellite view of the spot via Google Earth. The distance between the carcass and the nearest forest edge was measured via Google Earth in retrospect. The data included in the study was collected during 2017 and 2018; some of it by other students prior to the start of this thesis project.

In order to analyse environment factors, the landscape around the location of predator attack was classified as belonging to one out of four mutually exclusive landscape categories: *forest, forest edge, partly open* or *open*. *Forest* landscape was defined as a location with dense tree or palm cover everywhere in a 15 m radius centered around the carcass. *Forest edge* was defined as a location where the carcass is within 15 m of an edge of a forest area (either inside or outside the area) which itself measures at least 10 m in radius. *Partly open* was defined as a location which is surrounded by an area, at least 7.5 m in radius, centered on carcass, consisting of bushes or smaller forest areas with diameters of less than 20 m. *Open area* was defined as a location with no bushes or trees within a 15 m radius from the carcass.

During 2018, one calf was attacked in a paddock and thus had no opportunity to escape. This calf was consequently excluded from the analysis of sex and age. However, it was included when the impact of spot, vegetation, season and predator species was examined.

ArcGIS was used to analyse and visualise results. Raster maps of the relevant areas were fetched from Google Earth and adapted to the reference system WGS 84 using geo-referencing in ArcGIS.

## 2.3 Statistics

The data were positively tested for normally distribution (Anderson-Darling test) and then analysed with either *t*-test or Anova GLM. All analysis were done in Minitab 18.

## 3 Results

A total of 53 attacks were recorded from 2017-01-01 to 2018-10-31. Out of these, 43 occurred at Sao Bento (see Figure 6) and 10 occurred at Orvalho das Flores (see Figure 7). 31 attacks were recorded in 2017 and 22 in 2018.



*Figure 6.* Attack positions around Sao Bento. Purple points are jaguar attacks and yellow points are puma attacks.



Figure 7. Attack positions around Orvalho das Flores. Only puma attacks.

## 3.1 Most affected groups of cattle by predator

Only data from Sao Bento were used since the age of calves at Orvalho das Flores was unknown except for two calves. The age in the sample of killed cattle was  $169 \pm 21$  days (mean  $\pm$  SE), range 2 - 391 days (see figure 8).

In this analysis, only data from Sao Bento is included since the data from Orvalho Das Flores in most cases did not included age or predator.



Figure 8. Numbers of cattle in different age ranges killed 2017-2018.

Out of all of the killed cattle, 48.08 % of animals were male, 40.38 % were female and 11.54 % were of unknown sex (see Figure 9). Since we did not know the proportion of male and female calves on the farm, no statistical analysis was done. However, most male calves were usually sold after weaning and most female calves kept.



*Figure 9.* Proportion of sex of killed cattle 2017-2018. Since males were sold after weaning there was a higher proportion of females on the farms. Despite this, still more males were killed.

Breeds on the farms were mostly Nelore and Angus and some crossbreeds. No data about the proportion of different breeds on the farms were available to the current study. Because of this, it is difficult to determine whether some breeds were more vulnerable than others.

## 3.2 Vegetation types

Both farms had mostly open landscape with some forest patches, the latter especially at Sao Bento. The largest proportions of found carcases were registered in open and forest edge types of vegetation (see Table 1). Please notice that we recorded were the carcass was found, the attack might have happened somewhere else. Table 1. Numbers of attacks in different vegetation types at Orvalho das Flores (2018) and at Sao Bento (2017-2018). Carcasses were found most commonly in open areas and in forest edges.

	Open	Partly open	Forest edge	Forest	Paddock	
Sao Bento	25	2	12 3		1	
Orvalho das Flores	2	1	4	3	0	
Total	27	3	16	6	1	

More attacks occurred at forest edges during 2018 compared to 2017 (see Table 2).

Table 2. Numbers of attacks in different vegetation types in 2017 and 2018. More attacks occurred at forest edges during 2018 in comparison with 2017.

	Open	Partly open	Forest edge	Forest	Paddock
2017	23	1	5	2	0
2018	4	2	11	4	1

The largest measured distance between a carcass and the closest vegetation area smaller than 20 m in diameter was 87.5 m. The largest measured distance from a carcass to a forest with a diameter of at least 20 m was 475 m.

Attacks sometimes occurred close to roads or houses. 16.98 % of attacks occurred within 100 m from a road and 7.55 % of attacks happened within 100 m from a house or stable. One attack occurred in a paddock.

## 3.3 Moon illumination

Data regarding moon illumination was collected for attacks reported at Sao Bento, but not Orvalho das Flores. A larger proportion of the attacks occurred at less bright moon illuminations than at brighter moon illuminations (see Figure 10).

The 669 days of the study were grouped split up into three group with n = 223 days each according to the light intensity the moon, see table 3.

Table 3. Days of the study distributed in groups with different moon phases and 223 days in each group.

Moon phase	N (days)	Mean light (%)	Minimum	Maximum
New Moon	223	10.408	0.0	28.8
Half Moon	223	54.775	28.8	78.8
Full Moon	223	93.412	79.1	100.0



Figure 10. Mean number of kills per day ± SE according to moon phase.

The mean moon illuminance on days when calves were killed was  $41.8 \pm 5.1 \%$ , compared with  $53.3 \pm 1.4 \%$  with no killings (P= 0.03, DF 1, T-value 2.19, *t*-test) (see figure 11).



Figure 11: Moon illumination on days with 0, 1 and 2 kills, respectively.

## 3.4 Season



Figure 12; Number of attacks distributed at different months at Sao Bento in 2017. Most of the attacks occurred during August and September (the data is adjusted for 30 days per month).

In 2018, fewer attacks occurred at Sao Bento in total. Attacks were at that time most common in forest edges (see Table 4).

Table 4. Numbers of attacks distributed at different months at Sao Bento in 2018. Most of the attacks occurred in forest edges during July to September.

	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	Мау	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct
Open vege- tation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
Partly open vege- tation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
Forest edge	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	2	2	1
Forest	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
Pad- dock	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0

Since only two of the attacks recorded at Orvalho das Flores had their date documented, no seasonal analysis was made with the data collected from that location.

### 3.5 Predator

In this analysis, only data from Sao Bento is included since the data from Orvalho Das Flores in most cases did not included age or predator.

The mean age of cattle killed by jaguar was  $199 \pm 19,5$  days (mean  $\pm$  SE) with a range 2 – 291 days. The mean age of cattle killed by puma was  $4.8 \pm 1.2$ , range 2 - 8 days. Hence, the calves killed by puma were by far younger than the one killed by jaguar (P<0.001, *t*-test). Figure 13 shows the age of prey killed by jaguar in comparison with prey of puma.



*Figure 13.* Numbers of cattle in different age ranges killed by jaguar and puma 2017-2018. Pumas only killed cattle 0- 90 days old while jaguars most commonly killed cattle 180- 270 days old.

For jaguars, no difference in frequency could be detected between the sexes of killed animals. For pumas, no tendencies regarding prey sex preference could be determined since sex information was missing in nearly a third of recorded cases.

## 4 Discussion

## 4.1 Discussion of the results

#### 4.1.1 Environment factors affecting jaguar and puma killings

#### 4.1.1.1 Season

In the present study was a clear difference in the preferred killing frequencies between months. According to the data collected during 2017, most attacks in the open area took place in August (during the dry season) and most attacks on forest edges occurred in January (during the rainy season). This is confirmed by previous studies such as Gese *et al.* (2018) who found that cattle spend more time in forests during the rain seasons. Previous studies have also found that cattle spent more time closer to water during the dry seasons (Crawshaw & Quigley, 1991; Klar *et al.*, 2008).

Aggregated over the entirety of the dataset, most attacks occurred in August and September. In contrast to previous studies, this indicates that jaguars and pumas preferred to hunt cattle during the dry season. Alternatively, the result could be a result of how the cattle density differed between months or be related to calving season or abundance of wildlife, which cannot be confirmed nor refused by the available data of the present study. Based on previous studies, the expectation was that most attacks would occur during the rainy season, when cattle are expected to spend more time in forest environment (Gese *et al.*, 2018) and thus be more vulnerable to predators who tend to hunt at forest edges (Dickson & Beier, 2002; Foster *et al.*, 2010; Gese *et al.*, 2018).

Some reasons for more attacks occurring during the dry season are related to routines employed at the farms, such as birth giving and weaning. It is also possible that jaguars and pumas are in need of more prey during the dry season. There is, however, no obvious reason to expect this, as both jaguars and pumas can have cubs throughout the year (Brown, 2006). However, the loss of calves in the present study was probably due to few individual predators. Since we do only partly know when they had offspring, this factor could not be investigated.

Another potential explanation might be variations in access to natural prey. Older (and thus larger) calves appear to have been killed more often during the dry season according to the current study. This could indicate that fewer large natural preys are available during the dry season. According to Novack *et al.* (2005) it is more energy-efficient to take larger rather than smaller preys, and as a result predators could be motivated to hunt comparatively large cattle instead of smaller, naturally occurring prey. However, the amount of available mammal biomass varies with season in Pantanal, with highest abundance during dry season (Alho, 2008). Larger natural prey that are consumed in the area are deer (*Mazama sp.*) and capybara (*Hydrochoerus hydrochaeris*), both by jaguar (Engel, 2016) and by puma (Crawshaw & Quigley, 2002; de Azevedo, 2008; Engel, 2016). The size of capybara groups is larger in the dry season than in the rain season (Alho, 2008). As such, the hypothesis that jaguars and pumas kill more cattle in dry seasons due to a deficiency of natural prey thus seems unlikely to hold true.

If the population size of cattle varies seasonally due to, for example, variation in the rate of births and weaning/selling takes place during dry season, it could potentially explain the seasonal variance of killed cattle. Yet, since the risk still seems to be greater during the rainy season, cattle are expected to spend more time in forest environment according to Gese *et al.* (2018), a change in time for breeding is not recommended. A preferable approach is to develop strategies for protection of calves during hazardous periods.

#### 4.1.1.2 Vegetation types

Based on previous studies (Quigley, 1987; Palmeira *et al.*, 2008; Gese *et al.*, 2018), most of the carcasses were expected to be found at forest edges. In contrast, about double as many carcasses in the current study were found in open or half-open terrain, compared to forest or forest edges. It can, however, be argued that many attacks occurred close to forest in a relation to forest availability, as both farms consist of mostly open vegetation. This means that forest and forest edges counted for more attacks than open areas, in relation to the habitat sizes. Therefore, it seems plausible that the predators use forests for the purpose of stalking cattle or at least for hiding the carcass. Another explanation is that forests might be used by predators to cover the carcass of their prey in order to return later.

As discussed in previous sections, season conditions could be a potential reason to why attacks occur in forest or open vegetation (Crawshaw & Quigley, 1991; Klar *et al.*, 2008; Gese *et al.*, 2018). The grass height could be of crucial importance, since high grass differs throughout the year and

could hence have affected attacks in open vegetation. However, there is no collected data about the grass height with which to test this hypothesis. Another explanation could be differences in the grazing systems employed by the farms, about which there are no information.

Attacks on Sao Bento happened close to roads and houses relatively often, and in one case even in a paddock. It can thus be suggested that jaguars and pumas in the studied areas were not afraid of people, or alternatively, that they have difficulties finding enough natural prey in their respective areas. If true, this prospect could result in increased human- wildlife conflict, since it is a higher risk that the predator is observed.

#### 4.1.1.3 Moon illumination

According to the collected data, moon illumination affected when cattle were killed. Jaguars killed the most cattle when moon illumination was less than 25%. Most of the attacks occurred when moon illumination was lower than during nights without attacks.

In 2014, Prugh and Golden conducted a meta-analysis on how nocturnal mammal are affected by moon phases. They tested the hypothesis that prey species that rely on vision are more active during full moon while predators reliant on vision are less active during full moon. In that study, lions were found to be less active during periods with brighter moon illumination. However, a study by Cozzi *et al.* (2012) found that the activity of lions did not differ significantly between different moon phases. Rockhill *et al.* (2013) showed that bobcats were more active during brighter moon illumination. It can therefore be assumed that the effect of moon phases on predator behaviour differs depending on prey and competing predators.

A study by Harmsen *et al.* (2011) found that jaguars and pumas are generally not affected by moon illumination, but that jaguars change their circadian rhythm in areas in which armadillos are their main prey. Importantly, armadillos are less active during bright moon illumination. A possible explanation for this might be that armadillos adapt their circadian rhythm as a survival strategy, since their predators see better in brighter moon illumination. If cattle are the main prey of jaguars in Pantanal, such results indicates that cattle would be less active during bright moon illumination. However, confounding the issue further, higher intensities of moon light have been associated with more activity among cattle in a study by Sawalhah *et al.* (2016), while other studies have found no differences in activity between different moon phases (Wagnon, 1963).

In a study by Huck *et al.* (2017), deer were found to be more active during periods with a full moon. As a result, jaguars may hunt them instead of cattle during periods with bright moon illumination. It is also possible that jaguars have changed their circadian rhythm in order to hunt a main prey that is less

active in full moon, like armadillo. This line of reasoning would indicate that cattle are not the main prey of jaguars in the area. Another possibility is that cattle have such bad night vision when compared to jaguars and pumas that they are much easier to attack in low moon illumination. In that case, a full moon would benefit cattle more than it would jaguars and pumas.

The differences in the tendencies of jaguars and pumas to hunt in full moon or not could be an effect of them historically hunting different species naturally (De Azevedo, 2008; Engel, 2016), which could have led to the development of distinct strategies. Hypothetically, such behavioural divergence could be a result of benefits provided by avoiding conflicts with each other.

Since cattle seem to be slightly more active in brighter moon illumination (Sawalhah *et al.*, 2016) it can be conjectured that they feel relatively safe in full moon, or that they can forage easier. Incidentally, it makes intuitive sense that jaguars and puma would be able to see relatively good in dark. With this in mind, it is realistic that predators would mainly kill cattle in less bright moon illumination. It could be of interest to further study the impact of illumination on predation. Rockhill *et al.* (2013) have suggested that including moon phases in a modelling and examining of the population dynamics of prey would be useful.

#### 4.1.2 Affected groups of cattle

#### 4.1.2.1 Age

Our results showed that mainly younger animals were affected by predation. There were, however, attacks on animals over 1 year old, but at a lower frequency. More cattle between 180- 270 days old were affected than was expected *a priori* because many of the calves older than six months were sold already and hence less of them present at the farm. Yet, many older calves were killed, maybe as a result of weaning (Peña- Mondragón *et al.*, 2016). The average age of cattle killed by jaguar was 6.6 months in the current study, which is consistent with a previous study by Palmeira *et al.* (2008) where the average age was 3-9 months. In that study, the average age of the prey killed by a puma was 3 months, which is higher than that observed in this study where puma-killed calves were about one week old. However, the age was in the current study only registered for eight of the puma attacks, which makes the results highly uncertain. With a larger sample, the average age might have been higher.

According to Palmeira *et al.* (2008), a possible partial solution to the problem of predation on cattle is to use concentrated breeding of calves in order to protect them during the early stages of life. However, Michalski *et al.* (2006) noted that protection of calves has to last for at least three months following birth in order to be effective. Palmeira *et al.* (2008) found that calves younger

than nine months constitute the group most often subject to predation with fatal outcome. According to the same study, the average weight of calves at the time of death was 74 kg in cases involving pumas and 144 kg in cases involving jaguars (Palmeira *et al.*, 2008). The typical age of calves was up to six months old when killed by pumas and 3- 9 months when killed by jaguars (Palmeira *et al.*, 2008). Additionally, males were more often killed than females (Palmeira *et al.*, 2008). Several other studies have shown that calves are the group of cattle most affected by predation (Schaller, 1983; Hoogesteijn *et al.*, 1993; Polisar *et al.*, 2003; Michalski *et al.*, 2006). According to Peña-Mondragón *et al.* (2016) there is a risk of increased predation if the calves are weaned at a young age. All in all, weaning is ranked as a low risk factor in relation to factors such as proximity to forest and not monitoring the calves.

It is estimated that the size of calves that were killed differs greatly between areas, depending on how much natural prey are present in the zone. The age of the killed cattle can also be affected by whether the cattle farmers are monitoring the calves during the early periods of life and, if so, for how long. According to Michalski *et al.* (2006), a protection scheme would have to last for at least three months following birth in order to be effective. In the current study, 63% of the killed calves were older than three months, so even a three-month long shelter time would probably not have been enough. Protection of young calves can potentially be practical in places where pumas are the main threat. In areas with many jaguars, weaned calves may have a higher risk to be killed.

#### 4.1.2.2 Breed

It is difficult to determine if Nelore or Angus were more vulnerable to different degrees, since information concerning the proportion of breeds at the farms was not included in the current study.

According to some of the consulted farmers, Nelore are more aggressive than Angus. Nelore origins from Asia where there are big cats like leopard, whereas Angus is a breed original from Scotland. It is possible that differing mother instincts between the breeds make their respective calves dissimilarly vulnerable. It is also possible that the two breeds have developed different strategies in order to avoid predators or to defend themselves against them. Also Nelore being more aggressive than Angus could explain why on aggregate Nelore were killed when they were younger than Angus.

According a study by Hoogesteijn and Hoogesteijn (2008) neither Nelore nor Angus showed defensive behaviour against predators. Linnell *et al.* (1999) argue that domestic cattle have lost nearly all of their former anti- predator behaviours. Flörcke and Grandin (2013) also considered domestic cattle to have remarkably low levels of anti- predator behaviours. To their knowledge, their study was the first to show a connection between predation and cattle temperament. They used hair whorl pattern on the cattle's forehead to measure temperament. Cows without facial hair whorl pattern had higher calf losses due to predation. They also noted that calves without facial hair whorl pattern were less afraid for unknown objects and/or persons. From this weight of evidence it seems plausible to conclude that temperament can affect the risk for death by predation. If such is the case, it would be interesting to study whether Nelore and Angus have mutually different anti- predator behaviours. Apart from the aforementioned method utilizing hair whorl pattern, temperament can be assessed in other ways; for example via flight speed, serum cortisol measurement and mobile confinement (Aldrighi *et al.*, 2019). It should therefore be possible to use already established methods to examine temperament in Angus and Nelore.

#### 4.1.2.3 Sex

Overall, no difference in how often the different sexes were affected was detected by the current study. The fact that slightly more males were killed was unexpected, since many of the bull calves are usually sold once weaned. Therefore, the number of female calves on the farm is expected to exceed the number of males. Males were overall taken at younger ages than females.

Previous studies by Palmeira *et al.* (2008) and Soto-Shoender and Giuliano (2011) found that male calves have a higher risk to be killed by predators than females. According to Palmeira *et al.* (2008) this could be an effect of male calves moving farther from the mother cow than females of the same age. A study in Israel by Yom-Tov *et al.* (1995) found that male calves were more frequently killed by golden jackal (*Canis aureus*) than females. This is thought to be a consequence of male calves being heavier. It would certainly be interesting to study if female calves. Such a study could be made with GPS collars on calves and cows. Furthermore, the hypothesis by Yom-Tov *et al.* (1995) regarding differences in weight could similarly be examined easily. I also contemplated if males and females have different activity patterns during the night. Even this effect would be possible to capture with GPS- collars.

#### 4.1.3 Prevention strategies

The results acquired by the current study indicates that calves younger than 3 months was well as calves 6-9 months of age are risk groups. The increased risk when calves were 6-9 months old could be explained by the fact that they are recently weaned and therefore extra vulnerable (Peña-Mondragón *et al.*, 2016). Due to this fact, it is important to protect calves more after weaning.

Keeping livestock away from forests is a strategy that has often been proposed in previous studies (Quigley, 1987; Gese *et al.*, 2018). However, it has many potentially negative side effects. For example, biodiversity decreases if the forest parts are devastated. The welfare of cattle could also be negatively affected, as the forest offers dry areas to rest at during the rainy season and protection from the sun. Besides, Geese *et al.* (2018) points out that attacks still take place in varying habitats. This is confirmed by the current study, where attacks were observed also in open areas. Regardless, it is presumably a good idea to let more forest parties be grazed by older cattle while moving cattle at increased risk of being attacked (calves and the recently weaned) to more open pastures.

Since wild cat density is high in Pantanal (Zimmermann *et al.*, 2005; Marchini & Macdonald, 2012), one possibility is to breed calves at a different location in Brazil and keep older cattle in Pantanal. Farms would thus need to specialize to a greater extent. The disadvantage of this approach is that it would result in a greater need for transport, which is a stress factor for cattle, causes costs and entails a risk of spreading infection between farms (Swanson & Morrow-Tesch, 2001).

Vulnerable population calf groups could also be manually guarded. However, it is a difficult task indeed to monitor livestock in a large area. Conversely, decreasing the size of the grazing area would adversely affect the growth of the calves. Guarding is also labor-intensive, and is probably most effective during the nights, which means uncomfortable working hours. Such a strategy could also increase the human predator conflict, as the risk of livestock farmers encountering pumas and jaguars would increase. As a result, the risk for poaching increases, which would threaten the conservation work for jaguars and pumas.

Hoogesteijn and Hoogesteijn (2008) suggested that water buffalo might be used to guard cattle against jaguars and pumas. Buffalo show defensive behaviours against predator more than cattle do, and predation on buffalo by jaguar and puma is lower than on cattle (Hoogesteijn & Hoogesteijn, 2008). In Venezuela, where the study was conducted, there is however low demand for buffalo meat. Also, the authors argue that there is a risk of buffalos returning to their feral condition if kept as livestock. Water buffalos can even have a negative impact on the environment through mechanisms such as over- grazing and trampling if not appropriately managed (Hoogesteijn, 2001).

Fences are used against predators in for example Australia in order to keep wild dogs away (Bommel & Johnson, 2014), or in Sweden against wolves (Karlsson & Sjöström, 2011). However, fencing against jaguar and puma is a more difficult task, if not impossible. It would probably be difficult to build an effective fence against jaguars and pumas, as they are both proficient climbers and jumpers. A fence constructed for this purpose would therefore have to be high and all the trees in the vicinity would have to be cut down.

This would affect the biodiversity negatively and the fence would likewise prevent other, harmless animals from moving through the area. In addition, construction of fences would probably be expensive and laborious.

Cattle seem to be at higher risk for predation immediately following weaning. If they are instead killed when at a higher age, it is more economically motivated to prevent attacks since the farmers have already invested in them during breeding. Still, the methods have to be efficient enough in order to motivate the cost.

## 4.2 Discussion of methods

#### 4.2.1 Possible sources of errors

As this is a rather small dataset containing 53 killed cattle subject to limited analysis, there is a need for further research on the questions posed here. It had of course been good to involve more farms and more years but this had been too demanding for a master study.

How the vegetation was classified is a factor that could affect results substantially. An assessment was made in which a forest of at least 20 m in diameter was classified as a larger forest and that a 15 m radius from the carcass was a suitable distance to use. With this selection made, a large part of the data was then classified as open landscape. Also, pumas can pull a prey 200 m (Laundré & Hernández, 2003) which means that the location where the carcass is found is not necessarily the place where it was killed. Of course, with another classification, the results could have been different. But since we have clear definitions of vegetation zones, our results can still be compared with other studies.

Data collection was done partly by several people, which means that the subjective elements of data collection may differ. However, since we had clear definitions when collecting data we think that this did not cause any problems. Also, the same senior researchers were involved and in both years on the farms, although with different students.

#### 4.2.2 Improvement of the method

The data collection procedure could be improved upon in a multitude of ways. Firstly, data about cattle which were not killed should be collect in order to enable statistical analysis and comparisons with base rates. If we had the exact composition of the cattle herds, like age, sex, breed etc., we

could have compared the traits of killed cattle with the traits of the entire herd. Knowledge of the Portuguese language could also have facilitated the work undertaken, as I would then have been able to communicate directly with the ranchers. However, the study was conducted together with Englishspeaking Brazilian colleagues and we do not think that communication problems led to any errors.

The person making the decision regarding what kind of predator killed the cattle was in this study different for the different farms. To increase data quality, it is important to make sure that a knowledgeable person always makes the assessment of the found carcass in an as objective manner as possible. We addressed this by removing all carcasses from the data set when it was not possible to gain in a reliable way. As the predator responsible for the killing often returns to the carcass later to eat (Sunquist & Sunquist, 1989), another way to make a more reliable classification of the predator is to set up motion-sensitive cameras at the location of the carcass. The proposition that the depicted predator is the same as that which generated the carcass is not entirely certain, but this method is here conjectured to facilitate a more reliable assessment than visual inspection of the scene after the fact. Such cameras were set up on Sao Bento, but as they had not been maintained at the onset of this study they could not be used during 2018. At Orvalho das Flores, they were not used at all but will be after my time there.

The acquired data could be made better if missing cattle are found and investigated sooner after their disappearance. Therefore, it is important that those who work at the farm are involved and understand the aims of the study and document the attacks. It might be advantageously to encourage those who work at the farm to record GPS coordinates themselves when a carcass is discovered, as this can be done easily with a regular mobile phone. They could also film the site so that the vegetation can be analysed as it was at the time of the attack. The overall efficiency of work could be increased if the farmers were to document more, as it would reduce the risk of having to return to the site at a later time.

It is advantageous that the study was conducted over the course of two years. Since the data is collected from different times of the year it is easier to make seasonal analyses. Still, more data from Orvalho das Flores would have given a more generalizable representation of the hunting preferences of pumas, since so few puma attacks were recorded at Sao Bento. This was the first study at Orvalho das Flores, and it could be of interest to conduct additional studies over different seasons. However, predator attacks have according to the farmers always been a bigger problem at Sao Bento than at Orvalho. During further studies the methods can develop together with the ranchers, which could lead to the data collection getting better. It would of course also be better to involve more farms.

#### 4.2.3 Possible ethical and societal consequences

The purpose of the study was to give the farmers in Pantanal knowledge of the jaguar's hunting behaviour that they can use to protect their livestock. The goal is that it can be achieved without hunting as many jaguars. Hopefully, the conflict between human and wildlife can be reduced and a better co-existence achieved.

Neither the cattle or the wild cats was directly affected by the study since it was made as an observation study. No changes were made in their environment.

## 4.3 Further studies

To further the goals of the current study, data regarding cattle that are not killed should be collected and used for a statistical analysis. Also, it could be interesting to collect more data from a variety of seasons. Perhaps different actions against predators are more or less effective depending on the season? Differences in predation frequency depending on the season could provide valuable insight into important determinants of jaguar and puma hunting techniques, and perhaps also reveal something about in which situations they have difficulties to hunt their natural preys.

It could also be interesting to study whether weaned calves are a risk group. If such was the case, it would be interesting to study differences in effect between prevention strategies such as keeping them in group with older cows, keeping them away from forests or guarding them.

Since males seem to be more affected by predation than females, specifically testing some of the hypotheses purporting to explain why it differs could be of interest. For example, it could be studied whether males tend to stray farther from the cow than females.

Not much previous work seems to have been undertaken with the goal of differentiating behaviour against predators between Nelore and Angus. This would probably been an interesting area for further research. Since methods for assessing temperament in cattle are already available at the time of writing, it would probably be possible to conduct such research using already verified methods.

I have only found one study on how jaguar and puma activity change in relation to moon phase. I found a few studies on cattle activity dependent on moon phase, but no study on whether cattle predation frequency varies by moon illumination. This too could be interesting to study.

## 5 Conclusions

The aims for this study were to investigate how environmental factors and certain characteristics of the cattle influence the likelihood of jaguars and pumas killing cattle. Conclusions that can be drawn are that hunting of cattle occurs in different environments with varying degrees of vegetation. In relation to the prevalence of forests, many attacks still took place near forests. Attacks sometimes occurred within 100 m of a house or stall. Overall, most of the attacks occurred when moon illumination was at less than 25%. Most of the attacks occurred in August and September, which is during the dry season. Seasonal variations seem to be an effect of farm routines rather than an environment effect.

The available data also showed that attacks can occur on cattle of varying ages of up to over 1 year. Most killed calves were less than 90 days old or between 180- 270 days old. Pumas took younger animals than jaguars in aggregate. Nelore were most affected by attacks when they were 180-270 days old while Angus were more often taken when they were 270-360 days old. Males seems to be at higher risk for being killed than females.

Since there are several disadvantages with most of the protective strategies, my conclusion is that the best strategy currently available is to implement seasonal breeding, where births and weaning coincide with the dry season which seems to be a safer period according to the literature search. If possible, it would probably be advantageously to keep calves away from forest areas until they are over 1 year old and are at lower risk of being attacked. Lastly, it is important to promote habitats for jaguars and pumas around Brazil to prevent individual animals from being tempted to take cattle by way of having good access to wild prey.

#### References

Aldrighi J., Branco R. H., Cyrillo J., Magnani E., Ferreira, Figueiredo S., Bonilha M., Eugênia M. (2019). *Ingestive behaviour and temperament of Nelore cattle classified for residual feed intake*. Semina Ciencias Agrarias, 40. http://dx.doi.org/10.5433/1679-0359.2019v40n1p457

Alho, C. J., Lacher, T. E. & Goncalves, H. C. (1988) *Environmental degradation in the Pantanal ecosystem*. BioScience, 38, pp. 164-171.

Alho. (2008). Biodiversity of the Pantanal: response to seasonal flooding regime and to environmental degradation. Brazilian Journal of Biology, 68. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S1519-69842008000500005.

Azevedo, F., and Murray, D. (2007). *Evaluation of Potential Factors Predisposing Livestock to Predation by Jaguars*. Journal of Wildlife Management, 71, pp. 2379– 2386.

Beier, P. (1993). *Determining minimum habitat areas and habitat corridors for cougars*. Conservation Biology, 7, pp. 94–107.

Beier P., Choate D., Barrett R. H. (1995). *Movement patterns of mountain lions during different behaviors.* Journal of Mammalogy 76, pp. 1056–1070.

Bernal-Escobar, A., Payan E., Cordovez J. M. (2015). Sex dependent spatially explicit stochastic dispersal modeling as a framework for the study of jaguar conservation and management in South America. Ecological Modelling, 299, pp. 40–50.

Bommel L., Johnson C. (2014) *Protecting livestock while conserving eco-system function: non- lethal management of wild predators*. Carnivores of Australia. CSIRO Publishing Australia.

Branch LC. (1995) Observations of predation by pumas and Geoffroy's cats on the plains vizcacha in semi-arid scrub of central Argentina. Mammalia, 59, pp. 152-156.

Brown J. (2006). *Comparative endocrinology of domestic and nondomestic felids*. Theriogenology, 66, pp. 25-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenol-ogy.2006.03.011</u>

Brown J.C., Kastens J. H., Coutinho A. C., Victoria D. C, Bishop C. R. (2012) *Classifying multiyear agricultural land use data from Mato Grosso using time-series MODIS vegetation index data.* Remote Sensing of Environment, 130, pp. 39-50.

Conforti V.L, Azevedo F.C.C. (2003). Local perceptions of jaguars (Panthera onca) and pumas (Puma concolor) in the Iguaçu National Park area, south Brazil. Biological Conservation, 111, pp. 215-221.

Cozzi G., Broekhuis F., McNutt J., Turnbull L., Macdonald D., Schmid B. (2012). *Fear of the dark or dinner by moonlight? Reduced temporal partitioning among Africa's large carnivores.* Ecological Society of America. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/12-</u> <u>0017.1</u>

Crawshaw P. G., Quigley H. B. (1991). *Jaguar spacing, activity and habitat use in a seasonally flooded environment in Brazil.* Journal of Zoology, 223, pp. 357–370.

Crawshaw P. G., Quigley H. B. (1991). A conservation plan for the jaguar Panthera once in the Pantanal region of Brazil. Biological conservation, 61, pp. 149-157.

Crawshaw, P. G., Quigley H. B. (2002). *Hábitos alimentarios del jaguar y el puma en el Pantanal, Brasil, con implicaciones para su manejo y conservación*. Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Wildlife Conservation Society y Fondo de Cultura Económica. Ciudad de México, México, pp. 223-235.

De Azevedo, F. C. C. (2008). Food habits and livestock depredation of sympatric jaguars and pumas in the Iguaçu National Park Area, South Brazil. Biotropica 40, pp. 494–500.

Dickson B., Beier P. (2002). *Home-range and habitat selection by adult cougars in southern California.* The Journal of Wildlife Management, 66, pp. 1235-1245.

Dwyer D. (1961). Activities and grazing preferences of cows with calves in northern Osage County. Oklahoma Agricultural Experiment Station.

Engel M. (2016). *People and big cats (Panthera onca and Puma concolor) of the atlantic forest, Brazil.* Memorial University of Newfoundland.

Engel, M.T., Vaske, J.J., Bath, A.J., S Marchini. (2017). Attitudes toward jaguars and pumas and the acceptability of killing big cats in the Brazilian Atlantic Forest: An application of the Potential for Conflict Index<sub>2</sub>. Ambio, 46, pp. 604–612. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-017-0898-6

Flörcke C., Grandin T. (2013). Loss of anti-predator behaviors in cattle and the increased predation losses by wolves in the Northern Rocky Mountains. Open Journal of Animal Science. 3, pp. 248-253.

Foster, R. J., Harmsen, B. J. and Doncaster, C. P. (2010). *Habitat Use by Sympatric Jaguars and Pumas Across a Gradient of Human Disturbance in Belize*. Biotropica, 42, pp. 724-731. doi:10.1111/j.1744-7429.2010.00641.x

Gese E., Terletzky P., Cavalcanti S., Neale C. (2018). *Influence of behavioral state, sex, and season on resource selection by jaguars (Panthera onca): Always on the prowl?* Ecosphere, 9. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2341

González C., Miller B. (2002). *Do jaguars (Panthera onca) depend on large prey?* Western North American Naturalist, 62, pp. 218-222.

Harmsen B., Foster R., Silver S., Ostro L., Doncaster C.P. (2011). *Jaguar and puma activity patterns in relation to their main prey*. Mammalian Biology, 76, pp. 320-324.

Hoogesteijn, R., Hoogesteijn, A., Mondolfi, E. (1993). *Jaguar predation vs. conservation: cattle mortality by felines on three ranches in the Venezuelan Llanos*. Dunstone, N., Gorman, M.L. (Eds.), Mammals as Predators, Proceeding Symposium Zoological Society of London, 65, pp. 391–407.

Hoogesteijn R. (2001). *Manual on the problem of depredation caused by jaguars and pumas on cattle ranchers.* Wildlife Conservation Society.

Hoogesteijn, R., Hoogesteijn, A. (2008). *Conflicts between cattle ranching and large predators in Venezuela: could use of water buffalo facilitate felid conserva-tion?* Oryx, 42, pp. 132-138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605308001105</u>

Huck M., .Juárez C., Fernández-Duque E. (2017). *Relationship between moonlight and nightly activity of the ocelot (Leopardus pardalis) and some of its prey species in Formosa, Northern Argentina*. Mammalian Biology, 82, pp. 57- 64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mambio.2016.10.005

Iriarte J., Franklin W., Johnson W., Redford K. (1990). *Biogeographic variation of food habits and body size of the America puma*. Oecologia, 85, pp. 185–190.

IUCN. (2019). Jaguar. https://www.iucnredlist.org/species/15953/123791436. Downloaded 2019-01-17.

IUCN. (2019). Puma. https://www.iucnredlist.org/species/18868/97216466. Down-loaded 2019-01-18.

Jackson R., Wangchuk R. (2001). *Linking Snow Leopard Conservation and People-Wildlife Conflict Resolution: Grassroots Measures to Protect the Endangered Snow Leopard from Herder Retribution.* Endangered Species UPDATE, 18. Karlsson J., Sjöström M. (2011). Subsidized fencing of livestock as a means of increasing tolerance of wolves . Ecology and Society 16 (1), 2011.

Klar, N., Fernández N., Kramer-Schadt S., Herrmann M., Trinzen M., Büttner I., Niemitz C. (2008). *Habitat selection models for European wildcat conservation*. Biological Conservation, 141, pp. 308–319.

Kolowski J.M., Holekamp K.E. (2006). *Spatial, temporal, and physical characteristics of livestock depredations by large carnivores along a Kenyan reserve border.* Biological Conservation, 128, pp. 529-541.

Laundré J., Hernández L. (2003). *Winter hunting habitat of pumas Puma concolor in northwestern Utah and southern Idaho, USA.* Wildlife Biology, 9, pp. 123-130. https://doi.org/10.2981/wlb.2003.034.

Leite M.R.P., Galvão F. (2002). El jaguar, el puma y el hombre en tres áreas protegidas del bosque atlántico costero de Paraná, Brasil. El jaguar en el nuevo milenio. - Fondo de cultura economica, México, pp. 237–250.

Lenihan, M. L. (1996). *Public attitudes about wolves: a review of recent investigations*. The Yellowstone Wolf—A Guide and Sourcebook. Mill Pond Press, Venice, FL, pp. 354.

Linnell J.D.C., Odden J., Smith M.E., Aanes R., Swenson J.E. (1999). *Large carnivores that kill livestock: do "problem individuals" really exist?* Wildlife Society Bulletin, 27, pp. 698-705.

Lozano J., Moleon M., Virgos E. (2006). *Biogeographic patterns in the diet of the wildcat, Felis silvestris Schreber, in Eurasia: factors affecting the trophic diversity.* Journal of Biogeography, 33, pp. 1076–1085.

Macdonald, D.W., Loveridge, A.J., & Rabinowitz, A. (2012). *Felid futures: Cross-ing disciplines, borders, and generations*. Biology and conservation of wild felids. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 599-649.

Machado, A.B.M., Drummond, G.M., & Paglia A.P. (2005). *Livro vermelho da fauna brasileira ameaçada de extinção*. Brasília: MMA/ FundaçãoBiodiversitas.

Malo A., Lozano J., Huertas D.L., Virgós E. (2004). A change of diet from rodents to rabbits (Oryctolagus cuniculus). - Is the wildcat (Felis silvestris) a specialist predator? Journal of Zoology (London), 263, pp. 401–407.

Marchini, S., and Macdonald D.W. (2012). *Predicting ranchers' intention to kill jaguars: Case studies in Amazonia and Pantanal*. Biological Conservation 147, pp. 213–221.

Mazzolli M., Graipel M.E., Dunstone N. (2002). *Mountain lion depredation in southern Brazil*. Biological Conservation, 105, pp. 43-51. Michalski F., Boulhosa R.L.P., Faria A., Peres C.A. (2006). *Human–wildlife conflicts in a fragmented Amazonian forest landscape: determinants of large felid depredation on livestock.* Animal Conservation, 9, pp. 179-188.

Miotto R. A., Cervini M., Figueiredo M. G., Begotti R. A., Galetti P. (2011). Genetic diversity and population structure of pumas (Puma concolor) in southeastern Brazil: implications for conservation in a human-dominated landscape. Conservation Genetics, 12, pp. 1447–1455.

Mondolfi & Hoogesteijn. (1986). Notes on the biology and status of the jaguar in Venezuela.

Cats of the World: Biology, Conservation and Management, National Wildlife Federation, Washington, pp. 125-146.

Monroy-Vilchis O., Gómez Y., Janczur M., Urios V. (2009). *Food Niche of Puma concolor in Central Mexico*. Wildlife Biology, 15, pp. 97-106. https://doi.org/10.2981/07-054.

Muphy, T., & Macdonald, D.W. (2012). *Pumas and people: lessons in the land-scape of tolerance from a widely distributed felid.* Biology and conservation of wild felids. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 431-452.

NE. 2020. Jaguar. https://www.ne.se/uppslagsverk/encyklopedi/lång/jaguar. Downloaded 2020-02-06.

NE. 2020. Puma. <u>https://www.ne.se/uppslagsverk/encyklopedi/lång/puma</u>. Down-loaded 2020-02-06.

Novack A., Main M., Sunquist M., Labisky R (2005). Foraging ecology of jaguar (Panthera onca) and puma (Puma concolor) in hunted and non-hunted sites within the Maya Biosphere Reserve, Guatemala. Journal of Zoology, London, 267, pp. 167–178. doi:10.1017/S0952836905007338

Nowell, K., Jackson, P. (1996). *Wild Cats: Status Survey and Conservation Action Plan.* IUCN/SSN Cat Specialist.

Oli M.K., Taylor I.R., Rogers M.E. (1994). Snow leopard Panthera uncia predation of livestock: an assessment of local perceptions in the Annapurna conservation area, NepalBiological Conservation, 68, pp. 63-68.

Oliveira, T., Cassaro, G.E. (2005). *Guia de Campo dos felinos do Brasil*. Instituto Pró-Carnívoros; Fundação Parque Zoológico de São Paulo; Sociedade de Zoológicos do Brasil; Pró-Vida Brasil: São Paulo.

Palmeira F.B.L., Barrella W. (2007). *Conflitos causados pela predação de rebanhos domésticos por grandes felinos em comunidades quilombolas na Mata Atlântica.* Biota Neotropica, 7, pp. 21-30. Palmeira, F., Crawshaw, P., Haddad, C., Ferraz, K., Verdade, L. (2008). *Cattle Depredation by Puma (Puma concolor) and Jaguar (Panthera onca) in Central-Western Brazil.* Biological Conservation, 141, pp. 118–125.

Patterson B., Kasiki S., Selempo E., Kays R. (2004). *Livestock predation by lions* (*Panthera leo*) and other carnivores on ranches neighboring Tsavo National *ParkS, Kenya.* Biological Conservation, 119, Issue 4, pp. 507-516.

Peña-Mondragón J., Castillo A., Hoogesteijn A., Martinez- Meyer E. (2016). *Live*stock predation by jaguars Panthera onca in south-eastern Mexico: the role of local peoples' practices. Oryx, 51. pp. 254–262. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605315001088

Perilli M., Lima F., Rodrigues F., Cavalcanti S. (2016). *Can Scat Analysis Describe the Feeding Habits of Big Cats? A Case Study with Jaguars (Panthera onca) in Southern Pantanal, Brazil.* https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0151814.

Pitman M.R.P.L., Oliveira T.G., Cavalcanti S.M.C., Paula R.C., Indrusiak C. (2002). *Manual de identificação, prevenção e controle de predação por carnívoros*. Edições Ibama, Brasília.

Polisar J., Matix I., Scognamillo D., Farrell L., Sunquist M.E., Eisenberg J.F. (2003). *Jaguars, pumas, their prey base, and cattle ranching: ecological interpretations of a management problem.* Biological Conservation, 109, pp. 297-310.

Prugh L., Golden C. (2014). *Does moonlight increase predation risk? Meta-analysis reveals divergent responses of nocturnal mammals to lunar cycles.* Journal of Animal Ecology, 83, pp. 504–514. doi: 10.1111/1365-2656.12148.

Quigley, H. B. (1987). *Ecology and conservation of the jaguar in the Pantanal region, Mato Grosso do Sul, Brazil.* Dissertation, University of Idaho, Moscow, Idaho, USA.

Rabinowitz A.R. (1986). *Jaguar predation on domestic livestock in Belize.* Wildlife Society Bulletin, 14, pp. 170-174.

Reis, N.R., Peracchio, A.I., Pedro, W.A., & Lima, I.P. (2006). *Mamíferos do Brasil*. Londrina, Parana, BR.

Rockhill A., DePerno C., Powell R. (2013). The effect of illumination and time of day on movements of bobcats (*Lynx rufus*). PLOSONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069213

Rosas-Rosas OC, Bender LC, Valdez R. (2008). *Jaguar and puma predation on cattle calves in Northeastern Sonora, Mexico*. Rangeland Ecology & Management, 61, pp. 554–560.

Sanderson, E. W., C. L. B. Chetkiewicz, R. A. Medellin, A. R. Rabinowitz, Redford K. H., Robinson J. G., Taber A. (2002). *A geographic analysis of the conservation status and distribution of jaguars on the basis of their areas of distribution*. El jaguar en el nuevo milenio. Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México and Wildlife Conservation Society, Distrito Federal, México, pp. 551–600.

Sawalhah Mohammed N., Cibils Andrés F., Maladi A., Cao H., Vanleeuwen M., Holechek J., Black Rubio C., Wesley R., Endecott R., Mulliniks J., Petersen K. (2016). *Forage and Weather Influence Day versus Nighttime Cow Behaviour and Calf Weaning Weights on Rangeland*. Rangeland Ecology & Management, 69, pp. 134-143.

Schaller. G.B. & Vasconselos, I.M.C. (1978). *Jaguar predation on capybara*. - Zeitschrift fur Säugetierkunde, 43, pp. 296–301.

Schaller & Crawshaw. (1980). *Movement patterns of jaguar.* Biotropica, 12, pp. 161-168.

Schaller G.B. (1983). *Mammals and their biomass on a Brazilian ranch.* Arquivos de Zoologia, São Paulo, 31, pp. 1-36.

Shaw, H. (1989). Soul among lions.

Soto- Shoender R., Giuliano M. (2011). *Predation on livestock by large carnivores in the tropical lowlands of Guatemala*. ORYX, 45, pp. 561- 568.

Soto-Shoender & Main. (2013). Differences in stakeholder perceptions of the jaguar Panthera onca and puma Puma concolor in the tropical lowlands of Guatemala. Oryx, 47, pp.109–112.

Sunquist, M.E. (1981). *The social organization of tigers (Panthera tigris tigris) in Royal Chitawan National Park, Nepal.* - PhD thesis, University of Minnesota.

Sunquist M., Sunquist F. (1989). *Ecological constraints on predation by large felids*. J.L. Gittleman (Ed.); Carnivore behavior, ecology and evolution. Cornell University Press, U.S.A., pp. 283–301.

Sunquist M., Sunquist F. (2002). *Wildcats of the world*. The University of Chicago Press-Chicago and London, China.

Swanson J. C., Morrow-Tesch J. (2001). *Cattle transport: Historical, research, and future perspectives. Journal of Animal Science*, 79, pp. 102–109

Sweanor, L. L., Logan K. A., Hornocker M. G. (2000). *Cougar dispersal patterns, metapopulation dynamics, and conservation*. Conservation. Biology, 14, pp. 798–808.

Toledo L.M., Paranhos da Costa M.J.R., Schmidek A., Jung J. Ciryllo J. N. S. G., Cromberg V.U. (2013). The presence of black vultures at the calving sites and its effect on cows and calves behaviour immediately following parturition. Cambridge University Press. 7. pp. 469-475.

Wagnon K. A. (1963). *Behaviour of beef cows on a California range*. California Agricultural Experiment Station.

WHO. 2019. World health organization. http://apps.who.int/bloodprod-ucts/snakeantivenoms/database/ Download 2019-01-25.

Woodroffe R. (2001). *Strategies for carnivore conservation: lessons from contemporary extinctions*. Cambridge University Press, Great Britain, pp. 61–92.

Woodroffe, R., Frank, L. (2005). *Lethal control of African lions (Panthera leo): Local and regional population impacts*. Animal Conservation, 8(1), pp.91-98. doi:10.1017/S1367943004001829

Yom-Tov Y., Ashkenazi S., Viner O. (1995). *Cattle predation by the golden jackal Canis aureus in the Golan Heights, Israel.* Biological conservation, 73, pp. 19-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207(95)90051-9.

Zimmermann A., Walpole M.J., Leader-Williams N. (2005). *Cattle ranchers' atti*tudes to conflicts with jaguars in the Pantanal of Brazil. Oryx, 39, pp. 406-412.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the farms Sao Bento and Orvalho das Flores and all the ranchers who helped me with the study. Especially thanks Joao Vitor Toledo and Pedro Henrique Esteves Trindade who helped me with translation from English to Portuguese while speaking with the farmers.

Thanks Jens Jung for all support and for traveling to Brazil with me. Also thanks Lotta Berg for the company. And great thanks to Matteus Paranhos for being my supervisor and even letting me stay some nights in your house.

I would also like to thank SIDA for the stipendium and the very nice and educative days on the preparation course at Härnösand.